
DIABLO COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS  

REGULAR MEETING AGENDA1 
DIABLO COUNTRY CLUB RED HORSE TAVERN TOO 

TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023, 6:00 P.M.  

CALL TO ORDER: Vice Pres: Matthew Cox  
ROLL CALL: Secretary: Christine Chartier 

Directors: Urbelis, Cox, Chartier, Lorenz, Slavonia 

PUBLIC COMMENTS:  Public comments will be taken on any subject including items on this agenda and 
are limited to 3 minutes per person when speaking in English, and 6 minutes per person when using a 
translator. Comments by the audience are not intended to result in a dialogue between members of the 
audience or between the audience and the Board.  Please note that under Brown Act regulations, no member 
of the Board may engage in any discussion, other than a brief comment or request for clarification, of any item 
raised by any member of the audience unless that item is included as an agenda item. 

1. BOARD/STAFF COMMUNICATION AND ACTIONS

ADMINISTRATIVE: Director Cox 

a) Director Slavonia and General Manager Torru to present a proposal 
from Flock Safety for a license plate security camera system at Diablo's 
3 vehicle entrances and on Mt Diablo Scenic Blvd. and request 
authority to negotiate a 3-year contract with Flock Safety in the amount 
of $37,600.

b) Director Lorenz to present the 2023 Audit Report.

ROADS: Director Cox & General Manager 

a) Authorize Director Cox and General Manager Torru to negotiate a
contract with Berkeley Signs to replace the 3 worn white wood signs at
the front entrances with similar signs, for an amount not to exceed
$6,000.

b) General Manager Torru to update the Board on the status of the FEMA
application for 2022-23 Winter Storm damage financial assistance.

SECURITY: Director Slavonia 

a) Sheriff Deputy Chris Stoffel to provide security update since last
meeting.

1 Agenda attachments are available on the DCSD’s website (www.diablocsd.org) home page under Agenda. 



2. CONSENT CALENDAR 

a) Approve the minutes of the September 12, 2023, Regular Meeting. 

 
 

3. REPORTS 

 CONTRA COSTA COUNTY:     Cameron Collins 
 
 DIABLO PROPERTY OWNERS ASSOC:   Leslie Keane 
 
 DIABLO COUNTRY CLUB:      Hank Salvo 
 
 

4. DIRECTOR COMMENTS 
 
 

5. FUTURE AGENDA ITEM ANNOUNCEMENT 
 

6. CALL OF NEXT MEETING & ADJOURNMENT  

The next DCSD Regular Board meeting is scheduled for November 14, 2023, at 6:00 p.m. at 
Diablo Country Club.  

 
 

 
       Diablo Community Services District by 
 

Kathy Torru, General Manager 
  

DCSD Board Meetings are accessible to people with disabilities and others who need assistance.  Individuals who need 
special assistance or a disability-related modification or accommodation (including auxiliary aids or services) to observe 
and/or participate in this meeting; or who have a disability and wish to request an alternative format for the agenda, 
meeting notice, agenda packet, or other writings that may be distributed at the meeting should contact the General 
Manager at least one working day before the meeting at (925) 683-4956 or generalmanager@diablocsd.org.  Notification in 
advance of the meeting will enable the District to make reasonable arrangements to ensure accessibility to this meeting and 
the materials related to it.  Public records that relate to any item on the open session agenda are available for public 
inspection by contacting the General Manager and on the District’s website http://diablocsd.org.  



	

 
 

STAFF REPORT 
 
 

DATE:  October 10, 2023 
TO:  DCSD Board Members 
FROM: Kathy Torru, General Manager 
RE: Diablo Entrance License Plate Cameras Proposal 
 
I. Background 

The District is responsible for providing security in Diablo.  The District’s authority for providing 
security is derived from both the California State Community Services District law and the District’s 
formation resolution. 

Over the last several years the surrounding communities of Danville, Blackhawk, and Alamo 
have experienced an uptick in crime. Diablo has not experienced an increase in crime, but due to its 
proximity to these communities it is reasonable to consider the possibility that the crime uptick could 
impact Diablo in the future.  In response to the upticks in crime, these communities have invested in the 
license plate reader camera system provided by Flock Safety Inc.  These cameras are currently located 
at intersections throughout Danville and Alamo and closer to Diablo at the Green Valley Road-Diablo 
Road intersection, the Blackhawk Rd-Sycamore Valley Road intersection and at the Green Valley 
Road-Stone Valley Road intersection.  

These cameras capture images of the license plate, the make and model and color of each car 
that passes through the intersection. There are no pictures of the car interior.  The license plates are 
analyzed by the computer system and if a crime is linked to the license plate the Sheriff’s 
department/Danville police are immediately notified.  The license plate pictures are stored in the Flock 
Safety Cloud platform for 30 days at which time they are automatically erased by the system.  The 
pictures are only available for review by law enforcement and any review requires an incident number.  

At the recommendation of Diablo Deputy Chris Stoffels, Directors Slavonia and Urbelis met with 
the Flock Safety representative and discussed the cost and benefits of placing a license plate reading 
camera at each of Diablo’s entrances.  While Diablo has not seen an increase in crime the camera 
system provides the Diablo Deputy and the surrounding law enforcement officers with an important tool 
to assist in the resolution of a crime should one occur. The Diablo cameras would be added to the 
network of cameras in Danville, Alamo and Round Hill.   

 

II. Proposal Summary 

The Flock Safety Camera system proposal is a 3-year contract that includes the installation of 4 
cameras, one at each entrance, one at the corner of Mt Diablo Scenic Blvd and Diablo Rd, and the 
operation and maintenance of the camera system for 3 years.  The cameras would be installed on 
poles (2 existing), are solar powered and use cell phone technology. The annual operation and 
maintenance cost is $12,000 and the camera installation cost is $1,600, for a total cost of $37,600 for 3 
years.   

Privacy Protections: 

• Flock License Plate Readers, or LPRs only capture objective evidence, such as still images of 
license plates and unique vehicle characteristics. Flock LPRs exclusively focus on the discrete, 
vehicle-based information required to give police the evidence they need to solve crime. 



P a g e 	2	|	2	

• Flock LPRs do not pull up any information about the driver of a vehicle, such as gender, race, or 
ethnicity. 

• The system always requires a documented search reason or case number every time a user 
accesses Flock LPR data, creating a permanent audit trail for every user. 

• Customers own 100% of all data captured on our devices. We never share or sell data with third 
parties. 

• All images and metadata are encrypted in the cloud for maximum security compliance. 
• Flock has created the first LPR Transparency Portal, provided to customers optionally for free, 

to document LPR usage, policies, and ROI for their community. 
• Images are only accessible to the CCC Sheriff’s department.  No one associated with DCSD, 

DMAC, DPOA or the Diablo community will have access to the images. 
 

III. Recommendation 

The Board should consider entering into a 3-year contract with Flock Safety Inc. to provide a 
license plate reader camera system at each of Diablo’s three entrances and the corner of Mount Diablo 
Scenic Blvd and Diablo Rd for a cost of $37,600.  

 



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
Flock Safety + CA -   
______________ 
 
Flock Group Inc. 
1170 Howell Mill Rd, Suite 210 
Atlanta, GA 30318 
______________ 
 
MAIN CONTACT: 
Kyle Egkan 
kyle.egkan@flocksafety.com 
7144690389 
 
Created Date: 09/27/2023 
Expiration Date: 10/27/2023 
Quote Number: Q-42950 
PO Number:  

 

  



 

 
Budgetary Quote 

This document is for informational purposes only. Pricing is subject to change. 

 
 

Bill To: PO Box 321 Diablo, California 94528 Ship To: PO Box 321 Diablo, California 94528 
 

Billing Company Name: Diablo Community Services District Subscription Term: 36 Months 
Billing Contact Name:  Payment Terms: Net 30 
Billing Email Address:  Retention Period: 30 Days 

Billing Phone:  Billing Frequency: Annual Plan - First Year Invoiced at Signing.   
    

Hardware and Software Products 

Annual recurring amounts over subscription term 
 
Item Cost Quantity Total 

Flock Safety Platform   $12,000.00 

Flock Safety Flock OS    

FlockOS ™ Included 1 Included 

Flock Safety LPR Products    

Flock Safety Falcon ® Included 4 Included 
 
 

Professional Services and One Time Purchases 
    

Item Cost Quantity Total 

One Time Fees    

Flock Safety Professional Services    

Professional Services - Existing Infrastructure 
Implementation Fee $150.00 2 $300.00 

Professional Services - Standard 
Implementation Fee $650.00 2 $1,300.00 

 
 

  Subtotal Year 1: $13,600.00 

  Annual Recurring Subtotal: $12,000.00 

  Estimated Tax: $0.00 

  Contract Total: $37,600.00 

 
 

Taxes shown above are provided as an estimate. Actual taxes are the responsibility of the Customer. This is not an invoice – this document is a non-binding proposal 
for informational purposes only. Pricing is subject to change.  



Billing Schedule Amount (USD) 

Year 1  

At Contract Signing $13,600.00 

Annual Recurring after Year 1 $12,000.00 

Contract Total $37,600.00 
*Tax not included 

 

  



 

Product and Services Description 

 

Flock Safety Platform Items Product Description 

Flock Safety Falcon ® An infrastructure-free license plate reader camera that utilizes Vehicle Fingerprint® technology to capture vehicular attributes. 

 
 

One-Time Fees Service Description 
Installation on existing 
infrastructure 

One-time Professional Services engagement. Includes site & safety assessment, camera setup & testing, and shipping & handling 
in accordance with the Flock Safety Advanced Implementation Service Brief. 

Professional Services - 
Standard Implementation Fee 

One-time Professional Services engagement. Includes site and safety assessment, camera setup and testing, and shipping and 
handling in accordance with the Flock Safety Standard Implementation Service Brief. 

Professional Services - 
Advanced Implementation Fee 

One-time Professional Services engagement. Includes site & safety assessment, camera setup & testing, and shipping & handling 
in accordance with the Flock Safety Advanced Implementation Service Brief. 

 
FlockOS Features & Description 

 

Package: Essentials 

 
 
FlockOS Features Description 

Community Cameras (Full Access) Access to all privately owned Flock devices within your jurisdiction that have been shared with 
you. 

Unlimited Users Unlimited users for FlockOS 

State Network (LP Lookup Only) Allows agencies to look up license plates on all cameras opted in to the statewide Flock network. 

Nationwide Network (LP Lookup Only) Allows agencies to look up license plates on all cameras opted in to the nationwide Flock network. 

Time & Location Based Search Search full, partial, and temporary plates by time at particular device locations 

License Plate Lookup Look up specific license plate location history captured on Flock devices 

Vehicle Fingerprint Search 
Search footage using Vehicle Fingerprint™ technology. Access vehicle type, make, color, license 
plate state, missing / covered plates, and other unique features like bumper stickers, decals, and 
roof racks. 

Flock Insights/Analytics page Reporting tool to help administrators manage their LPR program with device performance data, 
user and network audits, plate read reports, hot list alert reports, event logs, and outcome reports. 

ESRI Based Map Interface 

Flock Safety’s maps are powered by ESRI, which offers the ability for 3D visualization, viewing of 
floor plans, and layering of external GIS data, such as City infrastructure (i.e., public facilities, 
transit systems, utilities), Boundary mapping (i.e., precincts, county lines, beat maps), and Interior 
floor plans (i.e., hospitals, corporate campuses, universities) 

Real-Time NCIC Alerts on Flock ALPR Cameras Alert sent when a vehicle entered into the NCIC crime database passes by a Flock camera 

Unlimited Custom Hot Lists Ability to add a suspect’s license plate to a custom list and get alerted when it passes by a Flock 
camera 

Direct Share - Surrounding Jurisdiction (Full Access) Access to all Flock devices owned by law enforcement that have been directly shared with you. 
Have ability to search by vehicle fingerprint, receive hot list alerts, and view devices on the map. 

 



 

 

DIABLO COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 
Annual Financial Report 

June 30, 2023 
 



 

 
   

DIABLO COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 
Table of Contents 

June 30, 2023 
 
 

Independent Auditor’s Report ................................................................................................................................. 1 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis ............................................................................................................. 4 

Financial Statements 

Statement of Net Position ................................................................................................................................... 8 
Statement of Activities ........................................................................................................................................ 9 
Balance Sheet – Governmental Fund and Reconciliation of the Governmental Fund 

Balance Sheet to the Statement of Net Position .......................................................................................... 10 
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance – 

Governmental Fund and Reconciliation of the Governmental Fund Statement 
of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance to the Statement of 
Activities ..................................................................................................................................................... 11 

Notes to Financial Statements ........................................................................................................................... 12 

Required Supplementary Information 

Budgetary Comparison Schedule – General Fund ............................................................................................ 19 

Independent Auditors’ Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on 
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements 
Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards ................................................................... 20 

 
 



 
 

550 Howe Avenue, Suite 210 
Sacramento, California 95825 

Telephone: (916) 564-8727 
FAX: (916) 564-8728 

1 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
 
Board of Directors 
Diablo Community Services District 
Diablo, California 
 
 
Opinions 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities and the general fund 
of the Diablo Community Services District (District) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2023, and the 
related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the District’s basic financial 
statements as listed in the table of contents.  

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the governmental activities and the general fund of the District as of June 
30, 2023 and the respective changes in financial position thereof for the year then ended in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinions  

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.  Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are required to be independent of the District, and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in 
accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.  

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements  

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation 
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or 
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the District’s ability to continue as a 
going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known 
information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter.  

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is 



To the Board of Directors 
Diablo Community Services District 
 
 

2 

not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and 
Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the 
aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures 
include examining, on a test basis, evident regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements.  

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the District’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting polices used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
financial statements.  

 Conclude whether, in our judgement, there are conditions or events, considered in aggregate, that 
raise substantial doubt about the District’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable 
period of time.  

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters 
that we identified during the audit.  

Required Supplementary Information  

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis and budgetary comparison information, as listed in the table of contents, be 
presented to supplement the basic financial statements.  Such information, although not a part of the basic 
financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be 
an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate 
operational, economic, or historical context.  We have applied certain limited procedures to the required 
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information 
and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic 
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.  
We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures 
do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated September 7, 
2023, on our consideration of the District’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters.  
The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness 



To the Board of Directors 
Diablo Community Services District 
 
 

3 

of the District’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.  That report is an integral part 
of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the District’s 
internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 

 
September 7, 2023 
 



DIABLO COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

June 30, 2023 
 

 

4 

The following discussion and analysis of the Diablo Community Services District’s (District) financial 
performance provides an overview of the District’s financial activities for the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2023.  Please read it in conjunction with the District financial statements.   
 
Highlights 
 
Financial Highlights 
 
The Diablo Community Services District (District) is a California Special District established in 1969 to 
provide security services to the residents of Diablo and maintain the roads, culverts, bridges, and Kay’s trail 
within Diablo.  The District contracts with the Contra Costa County Sheriff Department for security and 
contracts with third party contractors to provide road maintenance.  Security costs are consistent from one 
year to the next and road maintenance costs fluctuate year to year depending on the maintenance needs.   In 
FY 2023 The District repaired damages caused by the 2023 Winter Storm at a cost of $328 thousand. 
 
The District is funded with Contra Costa County Ad Valorem Tax revenue and a voter approved Special 
Tax.  The District’s revenue is consistent from one year to the next and funds the security and road 
maintenance needs of the District. 
 
Using this Annual Report 
 
This annual report consists of two parts:  Management’s Discussion and Analysis and Financial Statements.  
The Financial Statements also include notes that explain in more detail some of the information contained 
in the statements. 
 
Required Financial Statements 
 
The Basic Financial Statements are comprised of District-wide financial statements and Fund financial 
statements.  These two sets of financial statements provide the reader two different viewpoints of the 
District’s financial activities and financial position. 
 
District-wide financial statements report financial information about the District using the accrual basis of 
accounting method similar, to those used by private sector companies.  The Statement of Net Position 
includes all District assets and liabilities and provides information about the nature and amounts of 
investments and resources (assets) and obligations (liabilities).  It also provides the basis for computing rate 
of return, evaluating the capital structure of the District, and assessing the liquidity and financial flexibility 
of the District.  The Statement of Activities provides information about the District’s revenues and 
expenses, also on the accrual basis, with the emphasis on measuring net revenues and/or expenses for each 
of the District’s activities.  The Statement of Activities explains in detail the change in Net Position for the 
fiscal year. 
 
Fund financial statements include statements for governmental activities.  The Governmental Activities are 
prepared using the current financial resources measurement focus and modified accrual basis of accounting.  
Capital assets and other long-lived assets, along with long-term liabilities if any, are not presented in the 
governmental fund financial statements balance sheet.  Unlike the government-wide financial statements, 
governmental fund financial statements focuses on near-term inflows and outflows of spendable resources, 
and on balances of spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year.  Such information may be 
useful in evaluating the District’s near-term financing requirements. All of the current year’s revenues and 
expenditures are accounted for in the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances.  



DIABLO COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

June 30, 2023 
 

 

5 

This statement measures the success of District operations over the past year and can be used to determine 
whether the District has successfully recovered all its costs through its property taxes, special tax, and traffic 
fines.   
 
Reconciliations of the Fund Financial Statements to the Government-Wide Financial Statements are 
provided to explain the differences between these two sets of financial statements. 
 
Financial Analysis of the District 
 
One of the most important questions asked about the District finances is whether or not the District’s overall 
financial position has improved or deteriorated.  The Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities 
report information about the District activities in a way that will help answer this question.  These two 
statements report the net position of the District and changes in them.  You can think of District’s net 
position – the difference between assets and liabilities - as one way to measure financial health or financial 
position.  Over time, increases or decreases in District’s net position are one indicator of whether its 
financial health is improving or deteriorating.  Other factors to consider include changes in economic 
conditions, population growth, and new or changed legislation. 
 
Changes in Net Position 
 
The District’s total net position decreased by $18 thousand in FY 2022 as a result of higher road 
maintenance costs associated with the 2023 Winter Storm. The following includes figures from the 
statements of net position.  
 
Statement of Net Position 
 

2023 2022

Assets
Deposits and investments 504,843$         507,532$         
Prepaid expenses 40,239 40,389

Total assets 545,082           547,921           

Liabilities
Accounts payable  27,249 40,166
Accrued liabilities 60,387 31,585

Total liabilities 87,636             71,751             

Net position
Unrestricted 457,446           476,170           

Total net position 457,446$         476,170$         
 

 
In part, changes in District net position can be determined by reviewing the following Statements of 
Activities. 
 



DIABLO COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

June 30, 2023 
 

 

6 

Statement of Activities 
 

2023 2022

Revenues
Program revenues

Charge for services 24$                  7,901$             
General revenues

Ad valorem taxes 568,723 531,399
Measure B special tax 318,266 308,993
Interest income 43                    52

Total revenues 887,056           848,345           

Expenses
General government 226,858           111,749
Public safety 316,016 349,312
Public works 362,906           530,707

Total expenses 905,780           991,768

Changes in Net Position (18,724)$          (143,423)$        
 

 
Budgetary Highlights 
 
Because of the consistency and predictability in the District’s revenues and expenditures, the District is able 
to establish a budget and mostly operate within that budget. From time to time, there are items that must be 
addressed that do not appear in the budget such as additional road maintenance costs resulting from storms, 
flooding and fallen trees, and additional security costs in response to temporary spikes in vandalism or 
burglaries or traffic violations. In 2023 there was a budget vs actual difference of $18 thousand which was 
primarily due to repair work done due to the 2023 Winter Storms.  A schedule showing the District’s 
original and final budget amounts compared with the amounts actually paid and received is provided in our 
annual report on page 19. 
 
Capital Assets 
 
At the end of fiscal year 2022, the District had no (net of accumulated depreciation) capital assets.  The 
following table summarizes District capital assets at historical costs for fiscal year ended June 30, 2023. 
 

2023 2022

Equipment and computers 2,500$             2,500$             
Accumulated depreciation (2,500)              (2,500)              

Total capital assets -$                     -$                     
 

 
Additional information on capital assets can be found in footnote 3 to the financial statements.  
 
Significant Accomplishments of Fiscal Year 2022-23 are Noted Below: 
 
The primary functions of the District are to maintain the roads, bridges and culverts (that lie under the 
District’s maintained roads) in Diablo and provide security patrols within its boundaries. Both of these 



DIABLO COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

June 30, 2023 
 

 

7 

purposes were fulfilled. The District also has recreation powers and the power to install and maintain street 
lighting. However, this last power has never been exercised. The reasons for not exercising this power 
include resident reluctance to street lighting, cost, and lack of need. The recreation power was added in the 
1970s to provide maintenance of a pedestrian/equestrian (Kay’s Trail) between Alameda Diablo and Mt. 
Diablo Scenic. The (Kay’s Trail) is maintained on an “as needed” basis. 
 
Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budgets and Rates 
 
In considering the District’s budget for 2022-2023 year, the Board and management used the following 
criteria: 
 
The District’s primary revenue sources are ad valorem property taxes and Measure B Special taxes (general 
revenues). The property tax revenue is received from Contra Costa County (the County) based on the 
County’s revenue allocation formula. The District does not have any role in determining the allocation; 
however, the amount received does not change significantly from year to year. The District budgets its 
property tax revenue using the prior year’s allocation. 
 
The District held a special all mailed ballot election in March 2018. The ballot asked voters to approve a 
proposed Measure B special tax to replace the current security and road maintenance fees and to provide 
for road, bridge, culvert and trail maintenance and improvements, and security/police protection for the 
Diablo community. The annual special tax amount approved was $745.39 per improved parcels, $144.14 
per unimproved parcels and $26,387.20 for the Diablo Country Club parcels, including an annual inflation 
adjustment. The ballot measure was approved by the voters and was effective FY 2019. In 2023 revenue 
from the Measure B Special Tax was $318 thousand. 
 
Requests for Information 
 
This financial report is designed to provide our customers and creditors with a general overview of District 
finances and demonstrate District accountability for the money it receives.  If you have any questions about 
this report, or need additional financial information, contact the District at P.O. Box 321, Diablo, California, 
94528. 
 



 

See Notes to Financial Statements   8 

DIABLO COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 
Statement of Net Position 

June 30, 2023 
 
 

Governmental
Activities

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 504,843$         
Prepaid items 40,239

Total assets 545,082

Liabilities

Accounts payable 27,249
Accrued liabilities 60,387

Total liabilities 87,636             

Net Position
Unrestricted 457,446           

Total net position 457,446$         

 
 



 

See Notes to Financial Statements   9 

DIABLO COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 
Statement of Activities 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 

 
Net (Expenses)
 Revenues and

Changes in
Revenues Net Position

Charges for Governmental
Expenses Services Activities

Governmental Activities
General government 226,858$             -$                     (226,858)$            
Public safety 316,016 24                        (315,992)              
Public works 362,906 -                           (362,906)              

Total governmental activities 905,780$             24$                      (905,756)$            

General revenues and subventions
Property taxes, levied for general

purposes 886,989               
Interest and investment earnings 43                        

Total, general revenues 887,032               

Change in Net Position (18,724)                

Net Position - Beginning 476,170               

Net Position - Ending 457,446$             

Program

Functions/Programs

 
 
 



 

See Notes to Financial Statements   10 

DIABLO COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 
Balance Sheet – Governmental Fund 

June 30, 2023 
 
 

General 
Fund

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 504,843$         
Prepaid items 40,239

Total assets 545,082$         

Liabilities and Fund Balances

Liabilities
Accounts payable 27,249$           
Accrued liabilities 60,387

Total liabilities 87,636             

Fund Balances
Nonspendable 40,239             
Unassigned 417,207           

Total fund balances 457,446           

Total liabilities and fund balances 545,082$         

 
 
 

Reconciliation of the Governmental Fund Balance Sheet to the Statement of Net Position 
 
Total Fund Balance - Governmental Fund 457,446$         

Amounts Reported for Governmental Activities in the Statement of
Net Position are Different Because

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial
resources and, therefore, are not reported as assets in governmental
funds.

Cost of capital assets 2,500$             
Accumulated depreciation (2,500)

Total capital assets - net -                       

Total net position - governmental activities 457,446$         
 

 



 

See Notes to Financial Statements   11 

DIABLO COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance – Governmental Fund 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

General 
Fund

Revenues
Property taxes 568,723$         
Measure B special tax 318,266
Traffic fines 24
Interest income 43

Total revenues 887,056           

Expenditures
Current

General government 226,858
Public safety 316,016
Public works 362,906

Total expenditures 905,780           

Net Change in Fund Balance (18,724)            

Fund Balance - Beginning 476,170

Fund Balance - Ending 457,446$         
 

 
 

Reconciliation of the Governmental Fund Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund 
Balance to the Statement of Activities 

 
Total Net Change in Fund Balances - Governmental Fund (18,724)$          

Amounts Reported for Governmental Activities in the Statement
of Activities are Different Because

Capital outlays to purchase or build capital assets are reported in
governmental funds as expenditures, however, for governmental
activities, those costs are shown in the statement of net position
and allocated over their estimated useful lives as annual
depreciation expenses in the statement of activities

Depreciation expense -$                     
Total capital assets - net -                       

 The net effect of transactions involving capital assets
(i.e., disposal of assets) is to decrease net position. -                       

Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities (18,724)$           
 



DIABLO COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 
Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2023 
 

 

12 

Note 1 -  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 
General 
 
The Diablo Community Services District (the District) is a California special district formed in September 
1969 by the Contra Costa Board of Supervisors under provisions of Part 2.7, Section 13801-1399 of the 
Health and Safety Code. funded.  The Diablo Public Utility District (DPUD) was formed on March 23, 
1951, under Section 14010 of the Health and Safety Code to construct roads and bridges within Diablo. In 
1969, the DPUD was terminated and replaced with the Diablo Community Services District. The District 
reorganization was initiated by Diablo residents so that security services could be provided to the 
community by the District. The creation of the new District caused no changes in the governing body and 
the assets and liabilities of the DPUD were transferred to the reorganized District.  The District is funded 
by ad valorem and Measure B special taxes. 
 
The function of the District is to provide security and the maintenance of roads, bridges and specific culverts 
within the unincorporated community of Diablo, which is located at the foot of Mount Diablo, northeast of 
the Town of Danville. The District also has the power to install and maintain street lighting, and recreation 
powers. Recreation powers were added in the 1970s to allow the District to own and maintain the 
pedestrian/equestrian (Kay’s Trail) between Alameda Diablo and Mt. Diablo Scenic. Kay’s Trail is 
maintained on an “as needed” basis. 
 
The Board of Directors is an elected governmental body and consists of five members including a president, 
a vice president and three members. If a member resigns before the end of his/her term the Board of 
Directors shall either appoint an interim director or hold an election to fill the vacancy to serve out the 
remaining term. If a vacancy is not filled within 60 days, the Board of Supervisors may appoint a person to 
fill the vacancy or order the District to call an election to fill the vacancy. 
 
Reporting Entity 
 
Although the nucleus of financial reporting entity usually is a primary government, an organization other 
than a primary government, such as a stand-alone government, may serve as the nucleus for its financial 
reporting entity when the stand-alone government provides separately issued financial statements.  A stand-
alone government is a legally separate governmental organization that does not meet the definition of a 
component unit.  Diablo Community Services District meets the criteria as a stand-alone government, and 
accordingly, is accounted for and reported on as though it were a primary government.  
 
Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting 
 
The accounting and financial reporting treatment is determined by the applicable measurement focus and 
basis of accounting.  Measurement focus indicates the types of resources being measured such as current 
financial resources or economic resources.  The basis of accounting indicates the timing of transactions or 
events for recognition in the financial statements. 
 
The Government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus 
and the accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when 
a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.  Property taxes are recognized as 
revenues in the year for which they are levied.   
 



DIABLO COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 
Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2023 
 

 

13 

The Fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement focus and the 
modified accrual basis of accounting.  Under this modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are 
recognized as soon as they are both measurable and available.  Revenues are considered to be available 
when they are collected within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current 
period.  For this purpose, the government considers revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 
days at the end of the current fiscal period to pay current liabilities.  Revenue resulting from exchange 
transactions, in which each party gives and receives essentially equal value, is recorded when the exchange 
takes place.  The following revenue resources are considered to be both measurable and available at fiscal 
year-end:  interest, taxes, and other local sources.  Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is 
incurred, as under accrual accounting. 
 
Property taxes and interest associated with the current fiscal period are all considered to be susceptible to 
accrual and have been recognized as revenues of the current fiscal period.  All other revenue items are 
considered measurable and available only when the District receives cash.  
 
Basis of Presentation - Government-Wide Financial Statements  
 
The statement of net position and the statement of activities report information on all of the activities of the 
District. The District reports governmental activities, which normally are supported by taxes and 
intergovernmental revenues.  
 
The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or 
segment is offset by program revenues.  Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific 
function or segment.  Program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use 
or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function or segment and 2) grants 
and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular 
function or segment.  Taxes and other items not properly included among program revenues are reported 
instead as general revenues. 
 
Basis of Presentation - Fund Financial Statements  
 
The accounting system of the District is organized and operated on the basis of separate funds, each of 
which is considered to be a separate accounting entity.  Each fund is accounted for by providing a separate 
set of self-balancing accounts that constitute its assets, liabilities, fund equity, revenues, and expenditures.  
An emphasis is placed on major funds within the governmental category. The following is the District's 
major and the only governmental fund:   
 
General Fund - The General Fund is used to account for all financial resources of the District.  The General 
Fund balance is available to the District for any purpose provided it is expended or transferred according 
to the general laws of California and the regulations of the District. 
 
Capital Assets and Depreciation 
 
Capital assets generally result from expenditures in the governmental funds.  These assets are reported in 
the governmental activities column of the government-wide statement of net position but are not reported 
on the balance sheet of the fund financial statements.  
 



DIABLO COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 
Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2023 
 

 

14 

The District capitalizes assets that have a cost of $2,500 or in excess of and a useful life in excess of one 
year.  Assets are valued at cost when determinable or estimated cost.  The cost of normal maintenance and 
repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend asset lives are not capitalized.  
 
The District does not possess any infrastructure.  The roads and bridges are privately owned, and the District 
has the authority to maintain them.  All capital assets purchased are stated at cost.  Depreciation of capital 
assets is computed using the straight-line method.  The estimated useful life of the equipment is 3-5 years.  
 
Accrued Liabilities 
 
All payables and accrued liabilities if applicable are reported in the government-wide financial statements.  
In general, governmental fund payables and accrued liabilities that, once incurred, are paid in a timely 
manner and in full from current financial resources are reported as liabilities of the fund. 
 
Net Position 
 
Net position represents the difference between assets and liabilities.  Net position net of investment in 
capital assets consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation.  Net position is reported as 
restricted when there are limitations imposed on their use either through the enabling legislation adopted 
by the District or through external restrictions imposed by creditors, grantors, or laws or regulations of other 
governments.  The District applies restricted resources first when an expense is incurred for purposes for 
which both restricted and unrestricted net positions are available. 
 
Fund Balance  
 
Fund balance is classified into five different components.  The components are non-spendable, restricted, 
committed, assigned and unassigned. 

 Non-spendable - amounts that cannot be spent either because they are in non-spendable form or 
because they are legally or contractually required to be maintained intact. 

 Restricted - amounts that can be spent only for specific purposes because of constitutional 
provisions or enabling legislation or because of constraints that are externally imposed by creditors, 
grantors, contributors, or the laws or regulations of other governments.  The District currently does 
not have any restricted funds. 

 Committed – amounts that can be used only for specific purposes determined by a formal action of 
the Governing Board through a resolution.  The Governing Board is the highest level of decision-
making authority for the District.  The constraint remains binding unless removed in the same 
formal manner by the Governing Board. The Board’s action to commit fund balance must occur 
within the fiscal reporting period while the amount committed may be determined subsequently.  
The District currently does not have any committed funds. 

 Assigned - amounts that do not meet the criteria to be classified as restricted or committed but that 
are intended to be used for specific purposes.  The responsibility for assigning amounts for specific 
purposes has been delegated to the accounting director by the Governing Board. The District 
currently does not have any assigned funds. 

 Unassigned - all other spendable amounts.  
 



DIABLO COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 
Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2023 
 

 

15 

Spending Order Policy 
 
When an expenditure is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted fund balance is 
available, the District considers restricted funds to have been spent first.  When an expenditure is incurred 
for which committed, assigned, or unassigned fund balances are available, the District considers amounts 
to have been spent first out of committed funds, then assigned funds, and finally unassigned funds, as 
needed, unless the highest level of decision-making authority has provided otherwise in its commitment or 
assignment actions. 
 
Property Tax 
 
Secured property taxes attach as an enforceable lien on property as of March 1.  Taxes are payable in two 
installments on December 10 and April 10, respectively.   
 
The County of Contra Costa bills and collects the taxes on behalf of the District and distributed property 
tax revenues to the District four times a year. District property tax revenues are recognized when levied to 
the extent that they result in current receivables. 
 
Estimates 
 
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes.  Actual results may differ from those 
estimates. 
 
 
Note 2 -  Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
Summary of Deposits  
 
Cash and cash equivalents as of June 30, 2023 consist of $504,843 of deposits with financial institutions. 
 
General Authorizations 
 
The table below identifies the investment types that are authorized for the District by the California 
Government Code.  Limitations as they relate to interest rate risk, credit risk, and concentration of credit 
risk are indicated in the following schedules. 
 



DIABLO COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 
Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2023 
 

 

16 

Maximum Maximum Maximum
Remaining Percentage Investment

Authorized Investment Type Maturity of Portfolio In One Issuer

Local Agency Bonds, Notes, Warrants 5 years None None
Registered State Bonds, Notes, Warrants 5 years None None
U.S. Treasury Obligations 5 years None None
U.S. Agency Securities 5 years None None
Banker's Acceptance 180 days 40% 30%
Commercial Paper 270 days 25% 10%
Negotiable Certificates of Deposit 5 years 30% None
Repurchase Agreements 1 year None None
Reverse Repurchase Agreements 92 days 20% of base None
Medium-Term Notes 5 years 30% None
Mutual Funds n/a 20% 10%
Money Market Mutual Funds n/a 20% 10%
Mortgage Pass-Through Securities 5 years 20% None
County Pooled Investment Funds n/a None None
Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) n/a None None
Joint Powers Authority Pools n/a None None  
 
Custodial Credit Risk - Deposits 
 
This is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the District's deposits may not be returned to it.  The 
District’s policy, as well as the California Government Code, requires that a financial institution secure 
deposits made by state or local governmental units by pledging securities in an undivided collateral pool 
held by a depository regulated under state law (unless so waived by the governmental unit).  The market 
value of the pledged securities in the collateral pool must equal at least 110% of the total amount deposited 
by the public agencies.  California law also allows financial institutions to secure public deposits by 
pledging first trust deed mortgage notes having a value of 150% of the secured public deposits and letters 
of credit issued by the Federal Home Loan Bank of San Francisco having a value of 105% of the secured 
deposits.  As of June 30, 2023, District’s total bank balance was $504,843, of which $250,000 was insured 
by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC), and $254,843 was collateralized, but not in the name 
of the District.   
 
Note 3 -  Capital Assets  
 
Changes in capital assets for the year ended June 30, 2023 was as follows: 
 



DIABLO COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 
Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2023 
 

 

17 

Balance Balance
June 30, 2021 Additions Dispositions June 30, 2022

Capital assets being depreciated
Equipment and computers 2,500$           -$                -$                2,500$           

         Total capital assets being depreciated 2,500             -                  -                  2,500             

Less accumulated depreciation
Equipment and computers (2,500)            (2,500)            

Total accumulated depreciation (2,500)            -                  -                  (2,500)            

Total capital assets -$                   -$                -$                -$                   
 

 
 
Note 4 -  Fund Balances  
 
Fund balances are composed of the following elements: 
 
Nonspendable 40,239$           
Unassigned 417,207           

Total 457,446$         
 

 
 
Note 5 -  Commitments and Contingent Liabilities 
 
Litigation 
 
The District may from time to time be involved in litigation arising from the normal course of business. 
The District is not currently a party to any legal proceedings. 
 
 
Note 6 -  Risk Management 
 
The District participates in the Golden State Risk Management Authority (GSRMA), a joint powers agency 
comprised of California governmental agencies for general, property, automobile, employment practices 
and public officials’ errors and omissions.  Loss contingency reserves established by the GSRMA are 
funded by contributions from member agencies.  The District pays an annual contribution to the GSRMA 
that includes its pro-rata share of excess insurance premiums, charges for pooled risk, claims adjusting and 
legal costs, and administrative and other costs to operate the GSRMA.  GSRMA provides insurance through 
the pool up to a certain level, beyond which group purchased commercial excess insurance is obtained.  
 



DIABLO COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 
Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2023 
 

 

18 

The District’s self-insured retention level and maximum coverage under the GSRMA are as follows: 
 

Pool Commercial Self-Insured
Coverage Coverage Retention

GSRMA
General 250,000$            750,000$            -$                        
Property 5,000$                25,000,000$       1,000$                
Automobile liability 250,000$            750,000$            -$                        
Employee dishonesty 25,000$              10,000,000$       2,500$                 

 
 
Note 7 -  Subsequent Events 
 
The District has applied for Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) funding to cover the costs 
of the 2023 Winter Storm damage repairs.  In August 2023, FEMA obligated approximately $320,000 for 
these repairs.  An award letter nor the funds have been received as of current date.    
 



 

 

Required Supplementary Information 
June 30, 2023 

 



 

19 

DIABLO COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 
Budgetary Comparison Schedule – General Fund 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

Variances
Actual Final

Original Final (GAAP Basis) to Actual

Revenues
Property taxes 532,993$         532,993$         568,723$         35,730$           
Measure B Special Tax 318,263           318,263           318,266 3                      
Traffic fines 1,500               1,500               24 (1,476)              
Interest income -                       -                       43 43                    

Total revenues 852,756           852,756           887,056           34,300             

Expenditures
General government 137,377           137,377           226,858           (89,481)            
Public safety 391,785           391,785           316,016           75,769             
Public works 284,000           284,000           362,906 (78,906)            

Total expenditures 813,162           813,162           905,780           (92,618)            

Net Change in Fund Balances 39,594              39,594             (18,724)             (58,318)            

Fund Balance - Beginning 476,170            476,170           476,170           -                       

Fund Balance - Ending 515,764$          515,764$          457,446$         (58,318)$          

Budgeted Amounts
(GAAP Basis)

 
 
Note to Budgetary Comparison Schedule – General Fund 
 
The District adopts a budget annually for the general fund. From the effective date of the budget, which is 
adopted by the Board of Directors and controlled by the District, the legal level of budgetary control is at 
the expenditure level. Annual budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting 
principles.  
 
 



 
 

550 Howe Avenue, Suite 210 
Sacramento, California 95825 

Telephone: (916) 564-8727 
FAX: (916) 564-8728 

20 

Independent Auditors’ Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance 
and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with 

Government Auditing Standards 
 
 
Board of Directors 
Diablo Community Services District  
Diablo, California 
 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental 
activities and the general fund of Diablo Community Services District (District) as of and for the year ended 
June 30, 2022 and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the District's 
basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated September 7, 2023. 
 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting  
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the District's internal 
control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the District's internal control.  
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the District's internal control.  
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management 
or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, 
misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in 
internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the District's 
financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis.  A significant 
deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a 
material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies.  Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses.  However, material weaknesses 
may exist that have not been identified.   
 



To the Board of Directors 
Diablo Community Services District  
 
 

21 

Compliance and Other Matters  
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the District's financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
financial statements.  However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an 
objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.  The results of our tests disclosed 
no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing 
Standards. 
 
Purpose of This Report  
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the District's internal 
control or on compliance.  This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the District's internal control and compliance.  Accordingly, 
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

 
September 7, 2023 



 
DIABLO COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS  
MEETING MINUTES  

DIABLO COUNTRY CLUB RED HORSE TAVERN TOO  
SEPTEMBER 12, 2023, 6:00 P.M. 

 
CALL TO ORDER: President Kathy Urbelis called the meeting to order at 6:03 pm. 

President Urbelis welcomed Directors and the public and explained the rules for public comment.  

ROLL CALL:    Secretary Chartier called the roll as follows: 
 

Directors present: Urbelis, Cox, Chartier, Lorenz, Slavonia 
            Directors absent: None 

 
WELCOME OFFICIALS:  
 
Martin de los Angeles (of Best, Best, & Krieger LLP, General Counsel) 
Cameron Collins (Supervisor Anderson’s Liaison) 
Deputy Chris Stoffels (CCC Sheriff) 
Lt. Scott Dickerson (Valley Station Commander) 
Leslie Keane (DPOA President) 
 

PUBLIC COMMENTS:   

Kay Batts requested that the DCSD provide the current status of Kay’s Trail to address the entrance on 
Alameda Diablo, survey information and condition of the trail. 

Nicola Place thanked the Board for ensuring that Diablo’s deputy is visible on Mt. Diablo Scenic Blvd. 

Jeff Eorio strongly urged the Board to adopt the County 3- foot setback. He concurred with Ms. Place 
regarding Mt. Diablo Scenic Blvd, recommended that a Record Retention Policy be adopted;  and 
recommended community treatment and management of Elm Tree disease.  

David Mackesy recommends that neighbors and the Board notify developers and new owners 
regarding a 3-foot setback rather than give that power to the County. 

Ray Brandt echoes what David Mackesey said. 

Tony Geisler asked for a volunteer to monitor the elm tree situation and volunteered to work with the 
Country regarding the 3-foot setback issue. 

 

BOARD/STAFF COMMUNICATION AND ACTIONS:  

ADMINISTRATIVE:  

The Board is recommending Martin de los Angeles of Best, Best, & Krieger LLP (BBK) as its new 
General Counsel.  It was moved by Director Lorenz and seconded by Director Cox to adopt BBK’s 
Legal Services Agreement, naming  Martin de los Angeles as General Counsel.  The motion was 
approved 5-0.  Director Urbelis called for a warm welcome for the new GC. 
 
Director Urbelis introduced Deputy Chris Stoffels who became our new Sherriff on July 3rd.  The 
community welcomed and thanked him for making his presence known throughout Diablo.   



A warm welcome was also extended to Lt. Scott Dickerson, the new Valley Station Commander.  

Director Urbelis provided an update regarding Kay’s Trail.  The trail entrance from Alameda Diablo has 
a structure spanning the creek that was compromised during last winter’s storms.  As a result, GM Torru 
met with CA Fish and Wildlife to discuss a plan to restore the creek to its original state. The 
engineering, permitting, and creek restoration work is estimated to take 9-12 months according to CA 
Fish and Wildlife.   

Director Lorenz presented the FY23 financial summary, which is posted on the website.  Summarizing 
the fiscal year ending in June, District income was higher than budget, expenses for security, roads and 
administration were higher as well.  Much due to storm damage.  The District’s goal is to maintain a 
cash balance of $500k and that was accomplished. The Board continues to actively pursue 
reimbursement funds from FEMA.  The annual external audit will be discussed at the next meeting.  

ROADS:   

Director Cox provided details regarding FEMA.  The District has 5 projects filed with FEMA for 
reimbursement for 2022-23 storm related damages.  Four of the projects totaling $312K have been 
obligated by FEMA and submitted to CAL-OES for State review and funding.  A fifth project, a 
permanent repair of the failed creek bank, is still pending FEMA review.  In addition to the FEMA and 
CAL-OES reviews, permits are required from CA Fish and Wildlife, Army Corps of Engineers and the 
Water Resource Board.  A permit has been received from CA Fish and Wildlife;  the Army Corps of 
Engineers is performing a final review.  The Water Resource Board has not yet responded.  All of these 
permits must be submitted to the State before funding will occur. 

SECURTY:   

Director Slavonia asked  Deputy Stoffels for a security summary. Deputy Stoffels noted that Diablo’s 
crime rate is very low.  There were 71 calls in the past 30 days.  Warnings and citations were issued for 
running stop signs, speeding is rare due to speed bumps.  A suspicious circumstance occurred when 
someone removed 4 feet of wall from a property on Alameda Diablo.  Since the owner of the property is 
currently unknown, there will be no further action at this time.  There was one hit and run involving a car 
and a truck that is still under investigation.   

CONSENT CALENDAR:  

On motion of Director Slavonia, seconded by Director Cox, the Directors approved the consent 
calendar.  Motion passed 5-0. 

REPORTS: 

CONTRA COSTA COUNTY:  There has been 1 application to DMAC for a tree permit. 

DIABLO PROPERTY OWNERS’ REPORT:  The DPOA has held several events recently:  Dog Walk, 
Ice Cream Social, Raising of the Flags for Labor Day and September 11.  A History Walk is coming 
soon. The Annual Halloween Party on Alameda Diablo is being planned. 

DIABLO COUNTRY CLUB: None 
 

DIRECTOR COMMENTS:   

Director Slavonia mentioned that dead branches hanging over streets are a hazard and that property 
owners should take responsibility for removal.  Director Urbelis said that should be included in the 
encroachment ordinance review.   



Director Chartier remarked that the sign at the Alameda Diablo entrance is in disrepair.  Director Urbelis 
will notify General Manager Torru. 
 

FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS:    

Flock Camera System   

 

CALL OF NEXT MEETING/ADJOURNMENT:  

President Urbelis called the next meeting for October 10, 2023 at 6:00 pm at the Diablo Country Club. 
There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 6:39 p.m. 

 
 

Diablo Community Services District by 
 

                      Julie Nejedly,  Stand-in for General Manager 
 
 
 


	2023 10 10 DCSD Agenda.pdf
	Staff report - Entrance Cameras.pdf
	Quote_20230927_181906.pdf
	DCSD 2023 Audit Report.pdf
	2023 09 12 DCSD MINUTES 09 12 2023.pdf



